FILED SID J WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Jun 27 1994

CHIEF Deputy Clerk

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY AFFAIRS,

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 82, 946

Petitioner,

THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 92-1785

-VS-

CHARLES MOORMAN, KATHLEEN MOORMAN, and YOUR LOCAL FENCE,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF AMICUS CURIAE. 1000 FRIENDS OF FLORIDA

RICHARD GROSSO 1000 FRIENDS OF FLORIDA Post Office Box 5948

926 East Park Avenue Tallahassee, FL 32301 Fla. Bar No. 592978

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Court has accepted this case for discretionary review under Article V, §3(b)(3) of the Constitution of Florida.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

1

1000 Friends adopts the Statement of the case and of the Facts Included in the Initial Brief of the Department of Community Affairs.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal applied an incorrect standard of review in its examination of the facial constitutionality of certain Monroe County Land Development Regulations. The appropriate standard of review for a zoning ordinance of general applicability is the rational relationship test. Instead, the Third District employed the strict scrutiny analysis which historically has been reserved for the review of governmental intrusion into fundamental rights. The decision of the Third District, and its inappropriate analysis, conflict with precedential decisions of this Court and every district court of appeal, including the Third District. The Third District Court of Appeal also effectively (but incorrectly) created a brand new fundamental right to fence real property and possibly subjected all land use and environmental regulations to a previously unapplied requirement that they be as narrowly tailored and minimally intrusive as possible whenever they may limit what a landowner may do with his or her property. The opinion below is inconsistent with this Court's most recent opinions concerning the standard of review of land use regulations.

The second point is that the Third District's new approach to the standard of review of land use and environmental regulations is inappropriately based on the perceived need to expand and give greater weight to constitutionally protected property rights than to the constitutionally protected right to a healthy environment.

The court incorrectly seeks to change due process jurisprudence to protect, not the violation of, but the mere implication of property rights even where a property rights claim has not been raised. The court protected as a "right" of land ownership a use of land that is useful, beneficial, and important to a landowner but which is not a fundamental attribute or requirement of land ownership. It then categorically gave greater weight to this interest than to the state's interest in ensuring the very survival of an endangered species. The imbalance struck by the court ignores Florida's Constitutional provision requiring the protection of its natural resources and invalidated an entire legislative scheme where it should have only reversed a specific, inappropriate application.

ARGUMENT

- POINT I. THE THIRD DISTRICT'S RULING IS BASED UPON AN INCORRECT STANDARD OF REVIEW.
 - A. The ruling below incorrectly employs the "strict scrutiny" standard of review rather than the well established "rational relationship" standard which has previously been applied to regulations affecting the use of land which do not infringe upon a fundamental right.
 - 1. The strict scrutiny standard of review is reserved for fundamental rights review and not for reviewing the constitutionality of zoning ordinances.

In the opinion below, the Third District employed an incorrect standard of review for a facial challenge to a general zoning regulation, inappropriately applying the "strict scrutiny" standard of review to determine whether the regulation at issue was

constitutional. It thereby ignored decades of precedent which had established that facial challenges to general zoning regulations should be examined under the "rational relationship" test. The type of "strict scrutiny" analysis used by the Third District is reserved for instances where courts have examined governmental interference with fundamental rights

Strict scrutiny applies only when the statute operates to disadvantage some suspect class such as race, nationality, or alienage or impinges upon a fundamental right explicitly or implicitly protected by the constitution. Those fundamental rights to which this test applies have been carefully and narrowly defined by the courts to include the interests of the individual on issues concerning voting, interstate travel, procreation and abortion, and freedom of the press and speech. See Department of Revenue v. Magazine Publishers of America, 604 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1992); State v. Dodd, 561 So.2d 263 (Fla. 1990).

In <u>In re Estate of Greenberg</u>, 390 So.2d 40, 42-43 (Fla. 1980), <u>appeal dismissed</u>, 450 U.S. 961 (citations omitted), this Court explained that:

[Strict scrutiny] applies only when the statute operates to the disadvantage of some suspect class such as race, nationality, or alienage or impinges upon a fundamental right explicitly or implicitly protected by the constitution. Those fundamental rights to which this test applies have been carefully and narrowly defined by the Supreme Court of the United States and have included rights of a uniquely private nature such as abortions,... the right to vote,... the right of interstate travel,... first amendment rights, ...and procreation....(citations omitted)

The opinion below notwithstanding, this is still the law in Florida and the Third

District had no valid basis to attempt to establish new law. The Third District extended

this standard beyond its current ambit and announced a rule that regulations affecting the use of land must be as "narrowly tailored" as possible and constitute the "least restrictive alternative" to achieving the legitimate ends sought in order to be constitutional. It found the regulation at issue "facially unconstitutional because the method chosen by the legislature is not narrowly tailored to achieve the state's objective of protecting the Key Deer. As will be shown below, its rationale for the rule it announces is not persuasive.

The ordinance at issue is a legislative action which affects neither a suspect classification nor a fundamental right. Therefore the review of its constitutionality should be based upon the "rational relationship" standard, and not the "strict scrutiny" test used by the Third District. As will be shown below, the fencing ordinance is a valid exercise of the state's police power because it promotes the public welfare by seeking to prevent the extinction of the endangered key deer by preserving its ability to move freely from one habitat area to another and to maintain its genetic diversity. The ordinance passes constitutional muster under the rational relationship test because the means (prohibiting fences on Big Pine Key) are rationally related to the ends (protecting the key deer from loss of habitat and death).

The Third District's opinion viewed the ordinance under an inappropriately rigid standard of scrutiny and should therefore be reversed.

2. The facial validity of legislation affecting the use of land is reviewed by courts under the "rational relationship" standard of review.

This Court has historically and consistently recognized that zoning regulations of general applicability which comprehensively affect a large area are legislative acts and are presumptively valid exercises of the police power. Gulf & Eastern Dev. Corp. v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 354 So.2d 57 (Fla. 1978); Newman v. Carson, 280 So.2d 426, 428 (Fla. 1973); Harrell's Candy Kitchen v. Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority, 111 So.2d 439 (Fla. 1959); City of Miami v. Romer, 58 So.2d 849, 851-2 (Fla. 1952); City of Miami v. Rosen, 10 So.2d 307, 310 (Fla. 1942). It reaffirmed this standard as recently as eight months ago, where in relating the history of zoning regulations it said:

Both federal and state courts adopted a highly deferential standard of judicial review early in the history of local zoning. <u>In Village of Euclid v. Ambler Realty Co.</u>, 272 U.S. 365, 47 S. Ct. 114, 71 L. Ed. 303 (1926), the United States Supreme Court held that "[i]f the validity of the legislative classification for zoning purposes be fairly debatable, the legislative judgment must be allowed to control." 272 U.S. at 388. This Court expressly adopted the fairly debatable principle in <u>City of Miami Beach v. Ocean & Inland Co.</u>, 147 Fla. 480, 3 So.2d 364 (Fla. 1941).

Board of County Commissioners of Brevard County v. Snyder, 627 So. 2d 469, 472 (Fla. 1993)

Florida's District courts, at least until the opinion below, have been unanimous on this issue. The First District noted in <u>Davis v. Sails</u>, 318 So.2d 214, 217 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), that "the law is so well settled as to require no citations of authority that a city or county has the right and power, . . . to adopt zoning ordinances or regulations. Further, such zoning ordinances or regulations are, like other legislative acts, presumed valid." See also <u>Curless v. County of Clav.</u> 395 So.2d 255, 257 (Fla. 1st

DCA 1981); <u>Starkey v. Okaloosa County</u>, 512 So.2d 1040, 1043-44 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

In Blank v. Town of Lake Clarke Shores, 161 So.2d 683 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1964), a property owner brought a facial challenge and an "as applied" challenge to the Town's zoning ordinance which limited the land uses within the Town's boundaries. The Second District upheld the ordinance, noting that "it could not be said that the restrictions placed upon the plaintiff's property were not reasonably related to the public welfare." Blank at 686. That Court recently affirmed and emphasized the respect given to land use regulations, especially those adopted in conformance with state law, in Lee County v. Sunbelt Equities II. Ltd., 619 So.2d 996, 1003 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)(the circuit court is not permitted to ... substitute its judgement about what should be done for that of the administrative agency) and Lee County v. Morales, 557 So.2d 652 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)(upheld decision which was fairly debatable because courts may not act as super zoning bodies).

Prior to the opinion below, the Third District had consistently applied this rule.

Moviematic Industries Corp. v. Board of County Commissioners of Metro Dade County,

349 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977) used the "reasonably related to public welfare"

test to determine the validity of a land use ordinance validity. Id at 670. Additionally, in

Watson v. Mayflower Property Inc, 223 So2d 368 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969) the Court ruled

that the constitutional validity of a zoning ordinance depends upon its relation to the

public health, safety, morals and welfare. If a zoning ordinance has a <u>substantial</u>

relationship to any one of these, it is within the police power of the legislative body and

constitutionally valid. <u>Id</u> at 373. See also <u>City of Miami Beach v. Weiss</u>, 217 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 1969).

The Fourth District consistently has used the rational relationship standard of review for general zoning ordinances. See <u>Rotenberg v. City of Fort Pierce</u>, 202 So.2d 782 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967) and <u>City of Boca Raton v. Boca Villas Corporation</u>, 371 So.2d 154 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979) (building permit cap not "rationally related" to the public health, safety, and welfare).

A case from the Fifth District, <u>Town of Indialantic v. McNulty</u>, 400 So.2d 1227 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), involved a facial and an "as applied" challenge to the Town of Indialantic's ocean setback ordinance. On the facial challenge, the Fifth District ruled that the setback ordinance was valid and stated:

When a zoning ordinance is challenged on this basis, courts presume, unless shown otherwise, that the ordinance is valid, and if it is reasonably related to the public, welfare, health, and safety, in a manner characterized by the appellate courts as "fairly debatable," it will be upheld. Further, the burden of showing that the zoning ordinance is invalid is on the challenger - not the zoning authority[.] The courts should not become "super" zoning review boards. Zoning decisions are primarily "legislative" in nature and such decisions should be made by zoning authorities responsible to their constituents. Id at 1230

The cases from the Fifth District clearly demonstrate that land use and zoning regulations of general applicability are legislative acts subject to a deferential standard of review. In <u>Battaglia Properties</u>, <u>Ltd. v. Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory</u>

<u>Commission</u>, 629 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) the Court ruled that property ownership is protected from infringement of the state unless the regulations are

reasonably necessary to secure the health safety and welfare of the public. Id at 164. Further, it stated that the enactment of zoning ordinances is legislative action subject to deferential standard of review by courts and the role of a reviewing court is limited to determining whether the enactment is unreasonable and arbitrary. Id at 165. See also, Lamar Advertising Associates of East Florida. Ltd. v. City of Daytona Beach, 450 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) and Town of Indialantic v. Nance, 400 So.2d 37 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

The common theme of these cases is the judicial understanding that Legislative bodies are the direct representatives of the people and their decisions are to be given due deference by the less accountable judicial branch. Because of the legislature's exclusive responsibility to enact laws and ordinances in the police power for the public interest, the courts will not substitute their judgment for that of a legislature on such matters. Graham v. Estuary Properties. Inc., 399 So. 2d 1374 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1083 (1981); City of Miami Beach v. Ocean & Inland Co., 3 So. 2d 364 (Fla. 1941).

Courts have been especially loathe to become "super" zoning review boards. Enactments of original zoning ordinances have always been considered legislative, policy-setting actions, <u>Board of County Commissioners of Brevard County v. Synder</u>, 627 So. 2d 469, 474 (Fla. 1993), to which reviewing courts **must** apply a deferential standard of review. <u>Battaglia Properties</u>, at 168 (Goshorn, concurring).

In addition to a presumption of validity, zoning ordinances are subject to the rational relation or fairly debatable test which imposes a minimum level of scrutiny.

The often cited and heavily relied upon Village of Euclid v. Ambler Realty Co., 272 U.S. 365, 47 S. Ct. 114 (1926), adopts the fairly debatable standard in reviewing the validity of zoning ordinance, which says that the legislative judgment must be allowed to control. The court also adopts the rational relationship test for determining constitutionality. Id. "Before the ordinance can be declared unconstitutional, such provisions [must be shown to be] clearly arbitrary and unreasonable, having no substantial relation to the public health, safety, morals, or general welfare." Id. at 395.

The Fifth District explains how the fairly debatable test works and the deference it accords to zoning ordinances. "The fairly debatable rule is a rule of reasonableness; it answers the question of whether, upon the evidence presented to the municipal body, its action is reasonably based. Under the fairly debatable test the reviewing court must uphold the ordinance so long as a reasonable basis exists to support the zoning ordinance." Town of Indialantic v. Nance, 400 So. 2d 37, 39 (5th DCA 1981). In that case, this Court approved the lower court decision and emphasized that the fairly debatable test should be used to review legislative type zoning enactments. Nance v. Town Indialantic, 419 So. 2d 1041,1041 (Fla. 1981). Where the validity of a zoning ordinance is fairly debatable, a court may not substitute its judgment for that of a zoning authority. See City of Miami Beach v. Weiss, 217 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 1969); City of Miami v. Rosen, 10 So. 2d 307 (Fla. 1942).

The Court should reaffirm this long line of cases and reiterate that land use regulations of general applicability are to continue to be reviewed by Florida's judiciary under the "rational relationship" standard.

B. The Third District's reliance on forfeiture cases is misplaced and the cases it relies upon are distinguishable on the facts.

The Third District's opinion relied upon cases which simply are not applicable to the facts of this case. Much of the confusion generated by application of the strict scrutiny test stems from the Court's misplaced reliance on In re Forfeiture of 1969 Piper Navaio, 592 So.2d 233 (Fla. 1992). Piper Navaio involved the involuntary physical taking, confiscation, and transfer of title to the government, of private property through application of a state penal forfeiture statute, the violation of which was a felony. 592 So.2d at 234-236. In Piper, the government seized an airplane because it had an extra fuel tank in violation of FAA regulations relating to drug trafficking. The opinion recognized the general rule that the legislature, acting through its police power, can enact laws if they reasonably may be construed as expedient for protection of the public health, safety, and welfare and that due process requires that the law not be unreasonable, arbitrary, or capricious and that the means chosen be reasonably and substantial relation to purpose being sought. Id at 235. The opinion also specifically states that the state can infringe on an individual's property rights by regulating for the public safety and interest. Id.

After reiterating the viability of the "rational relationship" test, the Court specifically carved out a narrow, limited exception in forfeiture cases. In such cases, the Court held, the challenged regulation must be "narrowly tailored," and constitute the "least restrictive alternative".

The <u>Piper</u> decision was itself based upon a reading of <u>Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property</u>, 588 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1991). This case also involved the forfeiture of real property, a residential home. The Court noted that forfeitures are harsh exactions and are not favored either in law or equity, which had caused the Florida Supreme Court to follow a policy of strict construction of forfeiture statutes. The Court also recognized that strict construction clashes with the general judicial rule that all doubts to the validity of a statute are to be resolved in favor of constitutionality. Citing Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution, the Court expresses its general hesitancy to transgress upon the authority of another branch of government. It made it clear that the standard of review it was applying was specifically tailored to the narrow facts of that case:

The manner in which due process protections apply vary with the character of the interests and the nature of the process involved.

Id at 960.

This exception to the general rule which was carved out in these cases was expressly based on the harsh nature of forfeitures and the disfavor with which courts view them. The subject case involves no such forfeiture, but merely a restriction regarding structures other than the principle residence which could be erected in the habitat of an endangered species. Therefore this case does not fall under this narrow and limited exception to the rational relation standard of review.

The Third District also erroneously relied on <u>Shriner's Hospital for Crippled</u>

<u>Children v. Zrillic</u>, 563 So.2d 64 (Fla. 1990). That case found invalid on many grounds

a mortmain statute which purported to restrict a testator's power to convey property in the face of specific constitutional provisions which strongly implied that such restrictions could only be applied to aliens ineligible for citizenship. 563 So.2d at 66-67. See Fla. Const. Article I, Section 2. Also, the Shriner's Hospital case does not create a strict scrutiny test; it specifically says that even constitutionally protected property rights "are held subject to the fair exercise of the power inherent in the state to promote the general welfare of the people through regulations that are reasonably necessary to secure the health, safety, good order, [and] general welfare." 563 So.2d at 68 (citations omitted; emphasis added). The Shriner's Hospital case does not support the opinion below.

C. The opinion below is inconsistent with this court's recent decision in the <u>Snyder</u> case.

In <u>Board County Commissioners of Brevard County v. Snyder</u>, 627 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 1993) this Court considered the relationships between Florida's Growth Management Act, zoning decisions made under the Act, development order decisions made under the Act, and the rights of Florida land owners. The result was an opinion which comprehensively reviewed the constitutional and statutory considerations concerning the regulation of land use in Florida and set forth the standard of review to be followed by courts in this area. The <u>Snyder</u> decision refused to apply to a <u>quasi-judicial</u> action the intensive level of scrutiny advocated here by the Third District for legislative actions. The Court gave government more discretion in making decisions which affected specific parties and properties (the site specific application of existing

legislative policy) than the Third District has given it enacting legislation and rules of general applicability.

The <u>Snvder</u> opinion distinguishes between purely legislative functions and quasi-Judaical actions. Quasi-judicial actions (including rezonings), when they apply to a limited number of people (in the form of the application of a general rule or policy), are subject to "strict scrutiny" review. Id at 475. But the "strict scrutiny" described in Snvder is based upon a statutory "consistency" requirement, and differs from, and provides for more deference than, the "strict scrutiny" used by courts to review actions which threaten fundamental constitutional rights. Snyder determined the level of review in cases where a local government rezoning decision was challenged on the basis that it violated the statutory requirement that such decisions be "consistent" with previously adopted comprehensive plans. <u>Id</u> at 473. See s. 163.3194(1)(a), Fla. Stat. The "strict scrutiny" with which <u>Snyder</u> requires courts to review such decisions refers to the necessity for strict compliance with the comprehensive plan and statute. Snyder's rationale was the fact that rezoning decisions (except for broad scale rezonings) are no longer the place where local governments set general policy or legislate and that the discretion with which they make such decisions is limited by the requirement that the need to conform a rezoning decision to a previously adopted comprehensive plan. Id at 474-5. It increased the level of judicial review of such decisions, specifically because they involved the application of a specific set of facts to previously established legislative policy.

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