OA 10.5.94



CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By

Chief Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY AFFAIRS,

Petitioner/Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 82,946

CHARLES MOORMAN, KATHLEEN MOORMAN, and YOUR LOCAL FENCE,

Respondents/Appellees.

ON REVIEW FROM
THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
THIRD DISTRICT
Case No. 92-1785

RESPONDENTS'/APPELLEES' ANSWER BRIEF

THEODORE W. HERZOG Florida Bar Number 151456 Attorney for Appellants 209 Duval Street Key West, Florida 33040 (305) 293-9655

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Monroe County adopted a land development regulation (Section 9.5-479) in 1986 pertaining to fences on Big Pine Key. The subject ordinance called for the development of a "focal point planning program" for the purpose of balancing the needs of Key Deer protection with growth and development on Big Pine Key. The focal point plan was to be developed within twelve (12) months of enactment of the regulation but has not been developed or put in place since 1986. The failure to adopt the focal point plan establishes a de facto moratorium without a defined time limit and constitutes a total ban on fences in its practical effect.

At trial the expert for the DCA (Appellant herein) testified that a significant part of the area of Big Pine Key which is effected by the regulation is not Key Deer habitat and that fences are in some circumstances harmful to Key Deer while being beneficial in others.

As against this backdrop, the Third District Court of Appeal struck down the fence regulation in question as facially unconstitutional because it was not rationally connected to its objectives and established the preservation of an animal species over human life in the face of evidence in the trial record that childrens' lives were in danger on their own property (which was not Key Deer habitat) because of the ban on fences.

The Third District Court of Appeals decision in Moorman is in comportment with its conclusion that a blanket prohibition on fences on Big Pine Key does not accomplish its legislative goal of

protecting Key Deer (witness the DCA's expert testimony that a significant part of the land regulated was not Key Deer habitat and that Deer in some circumstances can be harmed by the absence of fences) and does not rationally harmonize with Constitutionally recognized property rights and the protection of human life.

The Monroe County ordinance is an arbitrary fiat which does not bear a reasonable and substantial relation to the purpose sought to be attained. The ordinance in question is an unreasonable restriction that is facially unconstitutional on due process standards, Constitutional property rights standards and standards relating to the Constitutional right of an individual to be free from intrusion into his private life. The ordinance in question does not pass muster on a "fairly debatable" standard, on a "competent substantial evidence" standard or on a "strict scrutiny" standard. The ordinance in place has no logical or rational nexus to its legislative purpose.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court of Appeal (Third District) struck down a police power fence regulation affecting the use of property as violative of the substantive due process guarantees of the Florida Constitution based upon the fact that the ordinance in question is a blanket attempt at exercise of the police power to totally ban fences which passes the bounds of reason and assumes the character of a merely arbitrary fiat.

Appellant in its Initial Brief inaccurately concludes that a "strict scrutiny" standard was applied by the Appellate Court below to strike down a police power fence regulation. In attempting to advance its position, Appellant makes extensive reference to the application by the Third District Court of Appeals in rendering its decision in this cause to In re Forfeiture of 1969 Piper Navaho, 592 So.2nd 233 (Fla. 1992). In actual fact, the Third District Court of Appeals in deciding the Moorman case made reference to the In re Forfeiture of 1969 Piper Navaho case for the purpose of concluding that restrictions on property in the interest of public health, welfare, morals and safety are valid exercises of the state's police power when the applicable restrictions reasonable but the means selected must bear a reasonable and substantial relation to the purpose sought to be attained. Moorman v. Department of Community Affairs, 626 So. 2nd 1108 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993 at 1110). The Court then immediately continued at the same page of the subject opinion to add to the "reasonable restriction" rule the language of this Court in Sarasota County v. Barg, 302 So.2nd 737, 741 (Fla. 1974) which indicates that the attempted use of the police power by a state will be stricken when

it "...passes the bounds of reason and assumes the character of a merely arbitrary fiat....".

In point of fact the Appellate Court below relied on Holley v. Adams, 238 So.2nd 401, 404 (Fla. 1970) for the proposition that: "Every reasonable doubt must be indulged in favor of the act. If it can be rationally interpreted to harmonize with the Constitution, it is the duty of the Court to adopt that construction and sustain the act." In addition, recognition was given of the fact that the State's interest in protecting endangered species is a legitimate governmental interest.

The Third District Court of Appeals opinion was keyed upon the testimony of Appellant's expert testimony at trial confirming and establishing the impropriety of a blanket prohibition on fences as was presented to them by Monroe County Land Development Land Regulation Section 9.5-479(c)(3). The MCLDR in question was enacted in 1986 and provided that Monroe County would have twelve months to complete a "focal point plan" for Big Pine Key. the purposes of the focal point plan was to provide criteria for permitting fences in designated areas on Big Pine Key which is within an Area of Critical Concern. Monroe County, after the expiration of a period in excess of five years, failed to complete a focal point plan. In the face of the foregoing circumstances (i.e.; a county ordinance generally banning all fences without additional consideration as prescribed by the adoption of a focal point plan) the Appellant's expert testified that some fences would not harm Key Deer and, in fact, would be beneficial to them. Appellate Court was also faced with the expert's testimony that in

three out of the four cases presented at trial there was no biological basis for denying the fences.

Based upon the foregoing the Court in Moorman v. Department of Community Affairs found as follows:

"Thus, the complete ban on all fences in Big Pine Key does not accomplish either of the two goals of the legislation: (1) the ban on all fences does not always protect the Key Deer as some Deer can be harmed in places where there are no fences; and (2) the fence ban does not recognize the individual's right to protect, enjoy and use one's property. Therefore the fence regulation clashes with Florida's Constitution".

It is important for this Court to note that Monroe County, Florida has designated most of Big Pine Key as an area of Critical County Concern in Section 9.5-479 of the Monroe County Land Development Regulations. That provision provides at subparagraph (D) that "no development shall be carried out in the BPKACCC prior to completion of the focal point planning program" except single family detached dwellings on lots in the Improved Subdivision District or lots having an area of one acre or more. The purpose of a focal point plan for the BPKACCC was to balance the needs of the endangered Key Deer with the growth and development taking place on Big Pine Key. It is critical for this Court to note that the failure to adopt the focal point plan in question had the effect of totally abolishing the creation of fences in the BPKACCC until such time as the focal point plan was adopted. The failure to adopt the focal point plan therefore constituted a de facto moratorium without a defined time limit within which to adopt appropriate legislative standards. It is that total ban on fences within the Big Pine Key area of Critical County Concern which invalidated the police power exercise presented to the Third

District Court of Appeal, which fact is confirmed by their holding. The Third District Court of Appeals opinion is confirmed by the testimony at trial of Kenneth Metcalf (who is the Community Program Administrator for the Department of Community Affairs) who testified as to the result of the failure to adopt a focal point plan for Big Pine Key as follows:

Answer: "That means that property owners that would like to build fences cannot do so until such time as the focal point plan is adopted."

All of the foregoing logically and correctly led the Moorman Appellate Court to hold that Section 9.5-309(e) MCLDR is facially unconstitutional because it is not narrowly tailored to achieve the State's objective of protecting the Key Deer. The use of the word "narrowly" in the Moorman Court's opinion at page 1111 is not an indicator of an incorrect application of a "strict scrutiny" standard but rather a simple and direct confirmation of the fact that the ban on all fences in Big Pine Key by Monroe County does not accomplish the goals of the legislation as is indicated above.

Since the Third District Court of Appeals in the Moorman case concluded at page 1111 that "...based upon the record before us, there was simply no showing that the Statute was unconstitutional as applied..." It held (again at page 1111) that the ordinance in question is facially unconstitutional because of its failure to achieve its objective.

The opinion below is based in significant part on Article I, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution and Article I, Section 9 which provides that all persons are equal before the law and that

they cannot be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law. The Court further referenced Article I, Section 23 of the Constitution which provides that "...every natural person has the right to be let alone and free from governmental intrusion into his private life...."

The District Court of Appeal struck down the fence regulation in question because it violated the due process rights of Appellees, was not rationally connected to its legislative objectives by the testimony of the State's own expert and escalated the preservation of an animal species over human life in light of the fact that there was evidence in the trial record that childrens' lives were in danger on their own property because of the ban on fences.

The Third District Court of Appeal's decision below is in complete accord with this Court's decision in Board of County Commissioners of Brevard County, Florida v. Snyder 627 So.2nd 469 (Fla. 1993). This Court in Snyder applied the "competent substantial evidence" test. As is indicated above, the testimony of the State's own expert (that there are good fences as well as bad fences with respect to the survival of Key Deer) and the testimony of Appellant's local agent (Kenneth Metcalf) that the failure to adopt a focal point plan by Monroe County effectively banned all fences, confirms that there was a total lack of "competent substantial evidence" upon which the subject ordinance could be sustained on a Constitutional basis since the evidence presented by Appellant itself controverted conclusively the accomplishment of the intended goals of the fence ordinance in

question. The circumstances as presented at trial by Appellant which surround the fence ordinance in question indicate that it is not a reasonable restriction on the property rights of individuals.

II. The District Court of Appeal construed several provisions of the Florida Constitution and properly held that a balancing of competing State and individual interests failed under the circumstances of the case to recognize the individuals' right to protect, enjoy, and to use property.

In the Moorman opinion the Third District Court of Appeal at page 1109 indicated that decision of the case required the establishment of "harmonious balance between the Constitutional right to protect and develop one's property and the right of the Key Deer to exist unfettered." The Moorman Court referred to Florida Statute Section 380.0552 designating the Florida Keys as an Area of Critical State Concern and indicated that the Statutes intent was to establish "a land use management system that protects the natural environment of the Florida Keys" and protects the "Constitutional rights of property owners to own, use, and dispose of their real property." The Moorman Court further referred to the MCLDR at Section 9.5-479(b) which designates the purpose of establishing Big Pine Key as an Area of Critical County Concern as the reconciliation of the conflict between the habitat needs of the Florida Key Deer and reasonable investment backed expectations of the property owner.

Appellant in its Brief emphasizes that the Appellate Court below concluded that the right to protect one's property includes a specific fundamental constitutionally protected right to erect a fence. That conclusion as to the intent or effect of the Third District Court of Appeals opinion in the Moorman case is unsubstantiated by the record. The Third District Court of Appeals in deciding this case did not reach or make a specific finding as to the fundamental Constitutional right to erect a fence. The Moorman Court below simply concluded that MCLDR 9.5-309(e) is facially unconstitutional because it does not achieve the objective of protecting the Key Deer. This basis for the Court's ruling is clearly stated at page 1110 of its opinion in which the Court found as follows:

"Thus, the complete ban on all fences in Big Pine Key does not accomplish either of the two goals of the Legislation: (1) the ban on all fences does not always protect the Key Deer as some Deer can be harmed in places where there are no fences; and (2) the fence ban does not recognize the individual's right to protect, enjoy and use one's property."

Therefore, fence the regulation clashes with Florida's Constitution. The ordinance in question does not pass muster on a "fairly debatable" standard. on standard based interpretation of "competent substantial evidence" or on a "strict scrutiny" standard. The Constitutional right abrogated by Monroe County in its ordinance (and by the DCA through its actions) is not the narrow right to build a fence but rather the deprivation of due process of law and the right to acquire, possess and protect property by virtue of the enactment of a blanket fence ordinance which has no rational <u>nexus</u> with its objectives and goals. Appellant's argument that the Third District Court of Appeals in the Moorman opinion inappropriately elevated the right to construct a fence to a fundamental Constitutional right is a spurious argument arising out of an apparent paranoia with the level of

Constitutional protection which exists in terms of the right to fence one's property. The Third District Court of Appeals opinion is founded upon fundamental Constitutional rights prohibiting an arbitrary and capricious statutory flat that flies in the face of private property rights, due process and the protection of human life.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, this Court should affirm the Third District Court of Appeal in its finding that Section 9.15-309(e) of the Monroe County Code is unconstitutional on its face.